I. Assignments of Error 

1. 	 The circuit court erred when it found that Mr. Hutton had not met the threshold 

requirements for obtaining a Writ of Coram Nobis, to wit: 

a. 	 There is no more usual remedy for Mr. Hutton. 
i. 	 The appeal on the Federal Immigration removal action is not a remedy 

because it cannot succeed unless the underlying unconstitutional plea can 
be overturned. 

11. 	 Mr. Hutton's case does not provide an opportunity to resolve the split 
among the Circuits, and thus would not be accepted on certiorari. 

111. 	 A Habeas remedy was not available to Mr. Hutton when he discovered the 
Padilla violation and the deportation consequences of his plea, which is 
the basis of his claim of ineffective counsel. 

b. 	 There was a valid reason why Mr. Hutton did not attack the conviction earlier. 
c. 	 There are serious consequences from the conviction sufficient to satisfy Article III 

requirements. 
d. 	 The error presents a denial of a fundamental constitutional right, the Sixth 

Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. 
1. 	 Both trial and post-conviction counsel were ineffective. 

11. 	 The circuit court improperly relied on SyI. Pt. 3 ofState v. Sims, 162 
W.Va. 212, 248 S.E.2d 834 (1978), which is implicitly overruled by 
Padilla and Hutton. 

111. 	 But for the ineffectiveness of counsel, the result would have been 
different. 

2. The fmdings of the circuit court are not supported by the record, and the circuit court 

failed to exercise any discretion at all in issuing its decision. 

3. The circuit court erred in stating as a conclusion of law that no attorney has a duty to 

investigate the immigration status of a criminal defendant. 

II. Statement of the Case 

The petitioner, Mr. Hutton (who also goes by Mykel G. Rasyth) was born in Jamaica and has 

been a lawful permanent resident ofthe United States since 1972. He has been in Federal 

Detention awaiting removal because his lawyer urged him to take a plea to a violent felony he 

denies having committed, and then failed to inform Mr. Hutton that such a plea would result in 

1 




his deportation, in violation of the mandate placed upon criminal attorneys by the decision in 

Padilla v. Kentucky. 

On May 21, 2010, Mr. Hutton entered a plea of guilty to the felony offense ofunlawful 

wounding in violation of W.Va. Code § 61-2-9(a), pursuant to Kennedy v. Frasier 178 W.Va. 10, 

357 S.E.2d 443 (1987), and Alford v. North Carolina 400 U.S. 25,91 S.Ct. 160 (1970). On July 

6,2010, he was sentenced to a tenn ofone to five years imprisonment. Thomas Dyer was Mr. 

Hutton's court-appointed counsel. After sentencing, Mr. Hutton's family hired Courtenay Craig, 

who filed a notice of appeal, a Motion for a New Trial Based on Newly Discovered Evidence, a 

Motion to Reconsider Sentence, and a Motion for Post-Conviction Bond or alternative sentence. 

On September 21,2010, the circuit court denied the motion for post-conviction bond. An 

evidentiary hearing on the remaining motions was held on October 27, 2010, and the court 

denied all remaining motions by an order entered on December 15,2010. That order was not 

appealed. No appeal or habeas was filed. 

On May 28,2013, days before he was due to be released upon the completion of his 

sentence, the Department ofHomeland Security (DHS) notified Mr. Hutton that he was subject 

to a United States Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) detainer for a custody 

detennination pending removal (deportation). On September 9, 2013, an Immigration Judge 

found Mr. Hutton's conviction to be categorically an aggravated felony crime ofviolence, and 

ordered him removed to Jamaica. While in detention pending removal, he was made aware of the 

Padilla case and the remedy of Coram Nobis, and his family obtained a sworn affidavit from Mr. 

Dyer on June 14,2013, stating that he had been Mr. Hutton's attorney in the underlying felony 

and had no memory ofeither he or the judge discussing the immigration consequences of his 

plea. The affidavit was used to support both Mr. Hutton's Petition for a Writ of Coram Nobis 
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filed on September 4,2013, in the Harrison County Circuit Court, and his motion in Federal 

Court to stay his removal. The Third Circuit, on April 17, 2014, stayed the deportation action 

pending the resolution of the state issue now again before this Court. 

On April 28, 2014, the circuit court entered an Amended Order Denying Writ ofError 

Coram Nobis, and the petitioner appealed the ruling to the West Virginia Supreme Court of 

Appeals. On June 16,2015, this Court reversed and remanded for further proceedings. 

The Hutton opinion held that a claim of legal error could be brought by a petition for a 

Writ of Coram Nobis only in extraordinary circumstances where the petitioner can satisfy four 

elements: "1) a more usual remedy is not available, 2) there are valid reasons for not attacking 

the conviction earlier; 3) there exists a substantial adverse consequence from conviction; and 4) 

the error presents a denial of a fundamental constitutional right." Syi. Pt. 5, State o/West 

Virginia v. Hutton, 235 W;Va. 724, 776 S.E.2d 621 (2015). This' Court further held that Padilla 

imposed a duty upon defense counsel to "warn an immigrant client of the deportation 

consequences ofa guilty plea." From SyI. Pt. 4, State o/West Virginia v. Hutton, 235 W.Va. 724, 

776 S.E.2d 621 (2015) 

Upon remand, the circuit court appointed Wiley Newbold to represent Mr. Hutton, and an 

evidentiary hearing was held on December 16,2015. Petitioner's proposed findings of fact and 

conclusions oflaw were filed on February 11,2016. Respondent's proposed findings of fact and 

conclusions oflaw were filed on March 14,2016. On October 18,2016, the circuit court issued 

the Final Order denying the petition, from which petitioner now appeals. 
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III. Summary of Argument 

1. The circuit court erred when it found that the petitioner had not met the threshold 

elements of Coram Nobis. 

a. There is no more usual remedy for Mr. Hutton. 

The circuit court erred when it ruled that Mr. Hutton failed the first prong of the 

AkinsadelHutton test for granting a writ of Coram Nobis. The only remedy to the constitutional 

error before the court is to vacate the conviction, and the only avenue available is Coram Nobis. 

The circuit court ruled that Mr. Hutton could have challenged the conviction by a habeas, and 

could still challenge the deportation by petition for Writ of Certiorari in the United States 

Supreme Court. 

Mr. Hutton had no need for a habeas until he first discovered he was being deported as an 

unknown consequence of his Alford plea. That is the basis ofhis Ineffective Assistance of 

Counsel (lAC) claim. Because of that conviction he is categorically removable. He cannot 

prevail on the immigration removal action on appeal unless his conviction is overturned. 

Although certiorari can be filed, Mr. Hutton's case does not provide the Supreme Court with the 

facts needed to resolve the split in the Circuits. Even if he could forestall the immediate 

deportation action, the conviction mandates removal, removal proceedings have commenced, 

and even if discretion could be granted, it can also be taken away. 

b. There was a valid reason why Mr. Hutton did not attack the conviction earlier. 

Mr. Hutton did not attack the conviction earlier because he did not know the immigration 

consequences of the Alford plea lmtil his state sentence was served, and he no longer had access 

to habeas relief At that point, he acted promptly. According to United States v. Akinsade, 686 

F.3d 248 (4thCir. 2012), that is sufficient. 
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c. 	 There are serious consequences from the conviction sufficient to satisfy Article III 

requirements. 

The law is clear. "The risk of deportation is an adverse consequence sufficient to create a 


case or controversy as required by Article III of the Constitution." Adkinsade, 686 F.3d at 252 


(citing United States v. Kwan, 407 F.3d 1005, 1014 (9th Cir. 2005». 


d. 	 The error presents a denial of a fundamental constitutional right, the Sixth 
Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. 

The right to effective assistance of counsel is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the 


United States Constitution. 


i. Both trial and post-conviction counsel were ineffective. 

This Court has already stated that "Padilla would appear to require a definitive statement 

by counsel that he informed Mr. Hutton of the possibility of deportation." Hutton, 235 W.Va. at 

fn. 20, 742. Mr. Dyer admits that there was no such definitive statement. "The weight of 

prevailing professional norms supports the view that counsel must advise her client regarding the 

risk of deportation." Padilla, 559 U.S. at 367, 130 S. Ct. at 1482. That rationale is now law. 

Counselling a noncitizen client regarding the immigration consequences of a felony conviction is 

now a constitutionally recognized duty ofthe criminal defense bar, and has been since March 31, 

2010. It was the duty of counsel on May 21, 2010, the day Mr. Hutton pled guilty to unlawful 

assault. Both ofhis attorneys failed to give him Padilla advice. 

11. 	 The Court improperly relied on Syl. Pt. 3 ofState v. Sims, 162 W.Va. 
2112,248 S.E.2d 834 (1978), which is implicitly overruled by Padilla and 
Hutton. 

Syllabus point 3 ofSims requires that analysis of ineffective assistance of counsel (lAC) claims 

must show a nexus between the IAC claim and an issue in dispute at trial, when that requirement 

is implicitly overruled by both Padilla and Hutton. 
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iii. 	 But for the ineffectiveness of counsel, the result would have been 
different. 

Padilla does not require that the petitioner prove he would have prevailed at trial, but 

only that a decision to refuse the plea, knowing all the consequences, would be a rational 

decision. A review of the potential evidence in the case shows a clear and definite allegation of 

substantial injury by the alleged victim, but the medical records show self-reported injuries 

without external bruising, a,s even Mr. Dyer acknowledged. Also there was ample impeachment 

evidence, admissions under oath of meretricious sex that even Mr. Dyer said would have been 

useful at trial. Considering the four plus years ofdetention Mr. Hutton has endured to contest 

removal and his clear and eloquent insistence on never being told of the consequence ofremoval, 

his willingness to take the case to trial is unassailable. Mr. Craig, Hutton's first post-conviction 

attorney thought the defendant had a substantial probability of prevailing at trial, and that is more 

than the law requires. Under all the circumstances, a decision by Mr. Hutton to take this case to 

trial would be rational. 

2. The f"mdings of the circuit court are not supported by the record, and the circuit 
court failed to exercise any discretion at all in issuing its decision. 

The circuit court has abused its discretion and committed plain error by adopting facts not in 

evidence and accepting the selective self-serving testimony ofMr. Dyer as truthful, while 

ignoring his affidavit of June 14,2013, ignoring the credible testimony of Mr. Hutton and the 

clear weight of the evidence. The circuit court had a presumption of mendacity for the testimony 

of the petitioner, threatened Mr. Hutton with perjury or false swearing without cause, ignored the 

credible and consistent testimony ofMr. Hutton, and ignored the plain fact the Mr. Hutton has 

endured four years of incarceration because he was not given effective assistance of counsel. 
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3. The circuit court erred in stating as a conclusion oflaw that no attorney has a duty 
to investigate the immigration status of a criminal defendant. 

Since Padilla, Courts now require cOWlsel to infonn criminal clients of collateral 

consequences of a guilty plea, at least in the context of immigration and deportation. If the exact 

extent and parameters of that duty are now being defined by this Court and other courts, then 

circuit court's submission is simple: the attorney has no duty to inquire. Having considered the 

testimony and previous Hutton ruling in this case, the circuit court absolves the attorney of all 

duty to inquire and advise ..This Court should rule that Padilla and Hutton impose a duty upon 

criminal defense cOWlsel to inquire of their clients, when the issue of origin and citizenship is 

present, their place of birth and citizenship status. 

IV. Statement regarding oral argument and decision 

Because this case presents an issue of first impression concerning the duties imposed on 

defense counsel by Padilla and Hutton, and because there is a constitutional question regarding 

the circuit court's Final Order, counsel requests oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the West 

Virginia Revised Rules for Appellate Procedure. 

V. Argument 

1. 	 The circuit court erred when it found that Mr. Hutton did not meet the threshold 
requirements for a Writ of Coram Nobis. 

The writ of Coram Nobis, as adopted in State ofWest Virginia v. Hutton, 235 W.Va. 724, 

776 S.E.2d 621 (2015) relies on United States v Akinsade, 686 F.3d 248 (4th Cir. 2012) for a 

delineation of the elemen~s: 

1) 	 A more usual remedy is not available; 
2) 	 Valid reasons exist for not attacking the conviction earlier; 
3) 	 Adverse consequences exist from the conviction sufficient to satisfy the case or 

controversy requirement ofArticle III; and 
4) 	 The error is of the most fundamental character. 
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United States v Akinsade, 686 F.3d 248,252 (4th Cir. 20 12)(intemal quotations and 
citation omitted). 

Standard of Review 

"In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court, we apply a 

two-prong deferential standard of review. We review the final order and ultimate disposition 

under an abuse of discretion standard, and we review the circuit court's underling factual fmding 

under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions oflaw are subject to a de novo review." Syl. Pt. 2, 

Walker v. West Virginia Ethics Com'n, 492 S.E.2d 167,201 W.Va. 108 (1997). 

"The deference accorded to a circuit court sitting as factfinder may evaporate if upon review 

of its findings the appellate court determines that: (1) a relevant factor that should have been 

given significant weight is not considered; (2) all proper factors, and no improper factors, are 

considered, but the circuit court in weighing those factors commits an error ofjudgment; or (3) 

the circuit court failed to exercise any discretion at all in issuing its decision." Syl. Pt. 1 Brown v. 

Gobble, 196 W.Va. 559 (1996). 

"Generally, findings of fact are reviewed for clear error and conclusions of law are reviewed 

de novo. However, ostensible fmdings offact, which entail the application of law or constitute 

legal judgments which transcend ordinary factual determinations, must be reviewed de novo. The 

sufficiency of the information presented at trial to support a finding that a constitutional 

predicate has been satisfied presents a question oflaw." Syl. Pt. 1 State ex rei. Cooper v. 

Caperton, 196 W.Va. 208 (1996). 

a. There is no more usual remedy available to Mr. Hutton. 

The circuit court erred when it ruled that Mr. Hutton fails the first prong of the 

AkinsadelHutton test for granting a writ of Coram Nobis. This element requires that a more usual 

remedy is not available. That is a present tense statement. It doesn't say that a more usual 
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remedy 'is now or was previously available.' Because a habeas is not now available, Mr. 

Hutton's case meets the plain wording of the test. There is no more usual remedy available. The 

circuit court apparently reads that plain wording to require that Mr. Hutton never had a more 

usual remedy, which is not what it says. 

Even so, Mr. Hutton had no need for a habeas until he first discovered he was being 

deported as an unknown consequence of his Alford plea. That is the basis of his lAC claim. He 

cannot prevail on the immigration removal action on appeal unless his conviction is overturned. 

Even if certiorari can be filed, Mr. Hutton's facts do not provide the Supreme Court with the 

facts needed to resolve the split in the Circuits over categorical and non-categorical offenses. 

Even ifhe could forestall the immediate deportation action, the conviction mandates removal, 

removal proceedings have commenced, and even ifdiscretion could be granted, it can also be 

taken away. The only remedy to the constitutional error before the court is to vacate the 

conviction, and the only av'enue available is Coram Nobis. 

i. The appeal on the Federal Immigration removal action is not a 
remedy because it cannot succeed unless the underlying unconstitutional plea can be 
overturned. . 

The circuit court's conclusion that Mr. Hutton has a more usual remedy by' filing a 

petition for certiorari in the United States Supreme Court challenging his deportation is incorrect, 

in that his conviction makes him categorically removable, and that does not involve or elucidate 

the issue that has split the circuits, which is the only avenue for certiorari. In addition, the circuit 

court incorrectly understands the controlling law on deportation, removal, and reentry applicable 

to Mr. Hutton, apparently concluding in error that Mr. Hutton's post-conviction behavior while 

on parole resulted in his removal proceedings, not the conviction. 
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The circuit court relies on the testimony of Michael Blumenthal in paragraphs 31-33 of 

the Final Order for several key legal propositions to support the conclusion that Mr. Hutton still 

has a remedy in Federal Court. Joint Appendix (J.A.), Vol. I, pages 30-32. The circuit court 

emphasizes Mr. Blumenthal's statement that the "government has a great deal of discretion as to 

enforcement" and also cites to Mr. Blumenthal's testimony on the state of the law regarding the 

split among the Federal Circuits on the issue of categorical and non-categorical offenses to 

support the proposition that Mr. Hutton has other remedies available in Federal CoUrt. 

Mr.. Blumenthal was testifying by phone with a bad cOlmection and while on vacation, 

and tried to correct his statement through an affidavit, which the circuit court declined to 

consider. Unfortunately, the circuit court's reliance on Mr. Blumenthal' testimony is misplaced, 

and the affidavit, even had it been accepted, doesn't correct all the misunderstanding of law the 

circuit court adopts in paragraph 31-33. It is the settled law that still governs this issue before 

this Court, not Mr. Blumenthal's testimony nor the circuit court's understanding of that 

testimony. "[C]onclusions of law are reviewed de novo." Syl. Pt. 1 State v. Spade, 225 W.Va. 

649,695 S.E.2d 879 (2010). 

When reqIoval proceedings were instituted by Immigration and Customs Enforcement 

(ICE), Mr. Hutton contested the decision of the Immigration Judge and the Board of Immigration 

Appeals (BIA) by appealing to the Third Circuit, using Mr. Dyer's Affidavit ofApril 14, 2013 to 

show aprimajacie violation under Padilla. Mr. Hutton's appeal of the BIA denial was stayed 

pending the decision of the circuit court on the petition for Coram Nobis. J.A. Vol I, page 61. 

Now the circuit court has ruled that he still has another available remedy, a writ of certiorari to 

the United States Supreme Court on the removal order if this Court denies this appeal. That is 

error. There is no remedy in Federal Court. The reason the removal action is stayed in Federal 
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Court is so that the state courts can resolve the Coram Nobis on its merits. The circuit court 

wants to insist that the petitioner file a frivolous petition for certiorari to the Supreme Court 

before he can access justice for a valid claim through Coram Nobis. 

In any circumstances, the error was counsel's failure to explain, as required by Padilla, 

that a guilty plea to a violent felony by a resident alien would result in removal. The appeal of 

the removal decision in the Federal Courts is not a remedy to the error Mr. Hutton addressed in 

his petition because it does not and cannot address the constitutional injury. The deportation 

order is a normal result of the application of immigration law when an alien is convicted of an 

aggravated felony. The deportation order is not the error. It is doing what it is designed to do. 

The failure to advise Mr. Hutton that his plea would result in removal is the error. The 

deportation order is a consequence of the error.' That error cannot be addressed in an appeal of 

the BIA order sustaining the Immigration Judge's decision to deport Mr. Hutton. As long as the 

conviction stands, the immigration judge's decision is valid and unassailable on appeal. 

Section 237(a) of 8 U.S.C. 1227 states inter alia that "Any alien ... shall, upon order of 

the Attorney General, be removed if the alien ... is convicted of a crime for which a sentence of 

one year of (sic) longer may be imposed.... Any alien who is convicted of an aggravated felony 

at any time after admission is deportable." An "aggravated felony" is "a crime of violence ... 

for which the term of imprisonment [is] at least one year." 8 U.S.C. 1101, Section 101 (a)(43)(F).

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