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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Mr. Hutton is not entitled to coram nobis relief in this matter. First, Mr. Hutton cannot 

establish any valid reason for failing to challenge his conviction earlier. Mr. Hutton's appellate 

counsel informed him that he might succeed if he filed a habeas petition based on ineffective 

assistance of counsel years before Mr. Hutton was released from custody. Reasonable diligence 

in challenging his conviction would have required Mr. Hutton to take some steps to seek relief 

after being informed that he might have a valid claim. 

Second, Mr. Hutton cannot show that his counsel's performance was deficient. The U.S. 

Supreme Court has been clear that counsel must perform an investigation that is reasonable in all 

the circumstances. Mr. Hutton's trial counsel conducted a reasonable investigation when he tried 
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to inquire about Mr. Hutton's birthplace and ascertain whether potential immigration 

consequences should be a concern from a plea. But Mr. Hutton provided only evasive responses. 

Counsel's reasonable inference based on these evasive responses was not deficient performance. 

Neither Padilla nor Hutton I should be read to reach a different result. Such a reading of those 

decisions would conflict with well-established U.S. Supreme Court precedents that recognize 

that a counsel does not perform deficiently when he conducts a reasonable investigation and 

reasonably acts based on the information learned through that investigation. 

Third, Mr. Hutton cannot establish that he was prejudiced by his counsel's representation. 

Mr. Hutton was facing overwhelming evidence including the testimony of his victim, 

corroborating witnesses, and his own admissions. And Mr. Hutton received substantial benefits 

when he pleaded guilty to a lesser-included charge of one of the four counts against him. In 

these circumstances, it would not have been rational to proceed to trial. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately 

presented, and the decisional process will not be aided by oral argument. See W. Va. R. App. P. 

18(a). But should this Court choose to require it, the State requests oral argument pursuant to 

West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 20 because the appeal raises matters of first 

impression and issues of fundamental public importance to the administration of justice in West 

Virginia. 

ARGUMENT 

This Court reviews the circuit court's findings and conclusions denying coram nobis 

relief under "a two-prong deferential standard of review." Syl. Pt. 2, in part, Walker v. W. Va. 

Ethics Comm'n, 201 W. Va. 108,492 S.E.2d 167 (1997). This Court reviews "the final order 
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and the ultimate disposition tmder an abuse of discretion standard." Id. Under this standard, this 

Court reviws "factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard" and "[q]uestions of law are 

subject to de novo review." Id. 

Mr. Hutton can receive coram nobis relief only if he can show that "(1) a more usual 

remedy is not available; (2) valid reasons exist for not attacking the conviction earlier; (3) there 

exists a substantial adverse consequence from the conviction; and (4) the error presents a denial 

of a fundamental constitutional right." Syl. Pt. 5, in part, Hutton I, 235 W. Va. 724, 776 S.E.2d 

621. But Mr. Hutton cannot meet at least two of these requirements. Mr. Hutton cannot show 

that he has a valid reason for not attacking his conviction earlier because he could have filed a 

habeas petition had he acted with ordinary diligence. And Mr. Hutton has failed to show that his 

counsel was constitutionally ineffective? 

2 To the extent that Mr. Hutton seeks to have his conviction vacated and not merely to avoid the 
deportation consequences of his conviction, his federal appeal does not provide a more usual 
remedy. See Drakes v. I.NS., 330 F.3d 600, 603 (3d Cir. 2003) (explaining that a previous state 
conviction could not be collaterally attacked in an appeal of an order of deportation based on that 
conviction). But Mr. Hutton's argument that he has no remedy through his federal appellate 
proceedings because the U.S. Supreme Court is unlikely to grant certiorari includes several 
errors. First, the likelihood that the U.S. Supreme Court will grant certiorari is irrelevant in light 
of the fact that the Third Circuit has not yet decided his appeal. App. Vol. I at 58-61. Second, 
Mr. Hutton argues that he has no remedy through a petition for a writ of certiorari because his 
case does not involve a circuit split. Pet'r's Br. at 13-15. But the U.S. Supreme Court Rules 
provide that "review on a writ of certiorari is ... a matter of ... judicial discretion." Sup. Ct. R. 
10. A split between the federal circuit courts is merely one of several examples of "the character 
of the reasons the Court considers" that are "neither controlling nor fully measuring the Court's 
discretion." Id. Third, Mr. Hutton's likelihood of success on a petition for a writ of certiorari is 
irrelevant to whether a petition is an available more usual remedy. Under the federal writ of 
coram nobis that this Court adopted, a remedy remains available so long as jurisdiction would be 
proper in some other court even if relief is foreclosed. For this reason, a number of federal 
courts have held that another remedy is available under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 even when relief is 
foreclosed by the statute of limitations or another procedural bar. See, e.g., United States v. 
Payne, 644 F.3d 1111, 1113 (lOth Cir. 2011) ("It is irrelevant that a § 2255 motion would have 
been untimely by the time he filed his petition for a writ of coram nobis. "); Matus-Leva v. United 
States, 287 F.3d 758, 761 (9th Cir. 2002) ("Matus-Leva's argument that a § 2255 petition is not 
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I. Mr. Hutton Has No Valid Reason for Failing to Attack His Conviction Earlier. 

Mr. Hutton failed to show that he had a valid reason for failing to attack his conviction 

earlier. See Syl. Pt. 1, in part, Hutton 1,234 W. Va. 724, 776 S.E.2d 621. This requirement is 

not met when a petitioner "failed to exercise reasonable diligence in asserting [his] claim[]." 

Telink, Inc. v. United States, 24 F.3d 42, 48 (9th Cir. 1994); see a/so, United States v. Dyer, 136 

F.3d 417, 427 (5th Cir. 1998) ("It has long been recognized that a petitioner seeking coram nobis 

must exercise 'reasonable diligence' in seeking prompt relief."). And a petitioner cannot show 

valid reasons for delay when the petitioner "knew or should have known . . . of the facts 

underlying his current claim" earlier. Foont v. United States, 93 F.3d 76,80 (2d Cir. 1996). 

Mr. Hutton failed to exercise reasonable diligence in asserting his claim. As the circuit 

court found, Mr. Hutton was "advised multiple times as to having a post-conviction option of 

filing . . . a Habeas Petition during his initial incarceration" and "has not demonstrated the 

existence of any valid reason for having not attacked his underlying conviction earlier upon 

claims of ineffective assistance of counsel towards Mr. Dyer." App. Vol I at 33. In fact, Mr. 

Hutton filed pleadings that expressed "intentions to file such a Petition due to allegations 

directed towards [Dyer], his legal counsel in the underlying criminal proceedings for failing to 

properly investigate his case and prepare for trial ...." App. Vol. I at 32. Mr. Hutton's counsel 

"eventually withdrew" but only after Mr. Hutton "was unequivocally made aware of his ability 

to file a Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus during his initial period of incarceration following 

his sentencing in the underlying criminal matter attacking his conviction for ineffective 

assistance of counsel therein." App. Vol. I at 32-33. Mr. Hutton's appellate counsel confirmed 

that he had informed Mr. Hutton that he had a winnable case for ineffective assistance of 

really available to him because it is time barred under the Antiterrorism and Effective Death 
Penalty Act, is unavailing."). 
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counsel. App. Vol. III at 186-88, 201. But despite being infonned that his appellate counsel 

thought that he had a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel that could be brought in a habeas 

petition, Mr. Hutton has cited no action that he took to seek relief in the nearly three years after 

his counsel's withdrawal before he file a coram nobis petition. 

Mr. Hutton argues that he had a valid reason for failing to challenge his conviction earlier 

because his appellate counsel failed to advise him "that he had a potentially valid claim for an 

appeal or Habeas under Padilla." Pet'r's Br. at 19. But counsel's failure to infonn him of the 

specific ground on which he now alleges ineffective assistance does not alter the fact that he 

would have learned of the basis for his claim earlier had he exercised reasonable diligence. After 

his counsel infonned him that he had a claim for habeas relief based on ineffective assistance of 

counsel, Mr. Hutton delayed years before bringing his claim for coram nobis relief. Mr. Hutton 

has cited no steps that he took to attack his conviction during that time even though he had 

several possible avenues to seek relief available including filing a pro se habeas petition and 

seeking to have counsel appointed, conducting research with the resources available to him, or 

seeking the advice ofhis sister who is an attorney. Had Mr. Hutton taken any of these steps after 

being infonned that he might have a meritorious claim for ineffective assistance, he likely would 

have learned of his potential Padilla claim. Thus, Mr. Hutton should have known of his 

ineffective assistance of counsel claim under Padilla earlier. Reasonable diligence in attacking a 

conviction requires that a petitioner who has been infonned that he has a valid claim not delay 

for years before taking any steps to follow through on that claim. 

Mr. Hutton also suggests that he has a valid reason for not challenging his conviction 

earlier because his appellate counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel. Pet'r's Br. at 19. 

But whether Mr. Hutton's counsel provided effective representation or not, Mr. Hutton could 
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have brought his claim earlier had he exercised reasonable diligence. Mr. Hutton's counsel 

withdrew from his representation in December 2010. App. Vol. I at 5. At that time, Mr. Hutton 

knew that he might have a valid claim for ineffective assistance of counsel that he could raise in 

a habeas petition. But Mr. Hutton took no steps to challenge his conviction for 

years. "Petitioner cannot blame an attorney who last represented h[im] in 2010 for h[is] failure 

to exercise reasonable diligence in challenging" his conviction "during the . . . years that 

followed." Clark v. United States, No. 3:17-cv-6-FDW, 2017 WL 390294, at *4 (W.D.N.C. Jan. 

27,2017) (appealed No. 17-6358, 4th Cir.). 

Finally, Mr. Hutton argues that under that United States v. Akinsade, 686 F.3d 248 (4th 

Cir. 2012), which set forth the coram nobis test adopted by this Court, establishes that he had no 

reason to challenge his conviction until he had been detained by immigration authorities. Pet'r's 

Br. at 17. But Mr. Hutton ignores the factual basis on which the Fourth Circuit relied in 

Akinsade. Akinsade involved a defendant who pleaded guilty after his attorney incorrectly told 

him that embezzlement was not a deportable offense. 686 F.3d at 250. The Fourth Circuit 

concluded the defendant in that case "had no reason to challenge [his] conviction" until he had 

been "detained by Immigration authorities" because "his attorney's advice, up to that point in 

time, appeared accurate." Id. at 252. 

Mr. Hutton's position is not analogous to a defendant who had no reason to investigate a 

challenge to his conviction because the advice he received "appeared accurate" until he was 

taken into custody by federal immigration authorities. !d. at 252. Mr. Hutton knew that he 

might have a valid claim ifhe wanted to challenge his conviction years before he filed his coram 

nobis petition. Even though he might not have been aware of the basis on which he could bring a 

claim, reasonable diligence required that Hutton take some step to pursue relief during those 
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years. Mr. Hutton's arrest by federal immigration authorities "explains only his motive for now 

seeking relief. It does not explain the reason that he waited" to take any steps to challenge a 

conviction when he had been infonned that he might have a meritorious challenge. Maghe v. 

United States, 710 F.2d 503, 503 (9th Cir. 1983) (per curiam) (denying a coram nobis petition 

seeking to invalidate a conviction when a petitioner had not filed until upgrade of a military 

discharge had been denied). 

II. Mr. Hutton Has Failed to Show that His Counsel Was Constitutionally Ineffective. 

Since Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686-88 (1984), the Supreme Court has 

recognized that a criminal defendant has a right to the effective assistance of counsel and may 

raise a claim that his counsel was actually ineffective. Four aspects of the well-established 

federal law recognizing the right to effective assistance of counsel are relevant to this appeal. 

First, to prevail on a claim of actual ineffectiveness a defendant bears the burden to show 

both that "counsel's perfonnance was deficient" and that ''the deficient perfonnance prejudiced 

the defense." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. This Court has repeatedly recognized that the burden 

to prove ineffective assistance rests with the defendant. See, e.g., Syl. Pt. 22, State v. Thomas, 

157 W. Va. 640,.643, 203 S.E.2d 445, 449 (1974) ("One who charges on appeal that his trial 

counsel was ineffective and that such resulted in his conviction, must prove the allegation by a 

preponderance of the evidence."); Syl. Pt. 2, in part, State ex rei. Stapleton v. Boles, 149 W. Va. 

645,645, 142 S.E.2d 896,896-97 (1965) ("The petitioner in a habeas corpus proceeding has the 

burden of establishing by pleading and proof that ineffective assistance of counsel denied him his 

consti tuti onal rights."). 

Second, the U.S. Supreme Court has long recognized that the deficiency prong involves 

several different duties owed by counsel and treated those duties separately in its decisions. In 
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Strickland, the Court acknowledged that "[r]epresentation of a criminal defendant entails certain 

basic duties." 466 U.S. at 668. These duties include the duty of loyalty and "the overarching 

duty to advocate the defendant's cause." !d. Counsel also owes "more particular duties" 

including the ~uty to "consult with the defendant on important decisions and to keep the 

defendant informed of important developments in the course of the prosecution." Id. Although. 

these duties do not "exhaustively define the obligations of counsel" and any case must be 

decided "considering all the circumstances," id., the U.S. Supreme Court has consistently 

considered the various duties separately when assessing a claim of ineffective assistance. 

Since Strickland, the U.S. Supreme Court has recognized that one of the duties of counsel 

is the "duty to investigate." Id. at 690. Under this duty "counsel has a duty to make reasonable 

investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations 

unnecessary." Id. at 691; see also, e.g., Cullen v. Pinholster, 563 U.S. 180, 190-94 (2011) 

(concluding that an investigation ofmitigation evidence was adequate). 

The U.S. Supreme Court has also recognized that ineffective assistance challenges to a 

guilty plea may be based on either a challenge to counsel's investigation or a challenge to 

counsel's advice. In Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985), the Court explained "where the 

alleged error of counsel is a failure to investigate or discover potentially exculpatory evidence," 

the prejudice inquiry "will depend on the likelihood that discovery of the evidence would have 

led counsel to change his recommendation as to the plea." The Court went on to explain that 

"where the alleged error of counsel is a failure to advise the defendant of a potential affirmative 

defense to the crime charged," a showing of prejudice "will depend largely on whether the 

affirmative defense likely would have succeeded at trial." Id. 
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Third, "O]udicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential." 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. A court assessing an attorney's performance must make "every 

effort . . . to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of 

counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the 

time." Id. And "because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation" and the 

"countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case," a "court must indulge a 

strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional 

assistance." !d. "[T]he defendant must overcome [that] presumption." Id. 

Fourth, since Strickland the U.S. Supreme Court has held that beyond the requirement of 

performance that is reasonable in the circumstances "[ m ] ore specific guidelines are not 

appropriate." Id. at 688. Strickland rejected "a checklist for judicial evaluation of attorney 

performance." Id. The Court explained that "[n]o particular set of detailed rules for counsel's

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